# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No. 70057-0-1

**ROBERT E. ANDERSON,** 

APPELLANT,

V.

**BEVERLY L. ANDERSON,** 

**RESPONDENT.** 

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Daniel W. Smith WSBA #15206 Stephen Burnham WSBA # 13270 of Campbell, Dille, Barnett & Smith, PLLC 317 South Meridian P.O. Box 488 Puyallup, WA 98371 (253) 848-3513 Attorneys for Appellant



# **

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in concluding that the provision in the Amended Decree of Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997, and in the subsequent court order of September 9, 1999 ordering respondent husband to pay petitioner wife fifty percent of his gross Social Security benefit payment was not a violation of 42 U.S.C.§407(a). CP 83-87.

2. The trial court erred in ruling that the respondent husband's motion to vacate the provisions of the Amended Decree of Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997, and in the subsequent court order of September 9, 1999 ordering respondent husband to pay petitioner wife fifty percent of his gross Social Security benefit payment, was not filed within a reasonable time under CR 60. CP 83-87.

3. The trial court did not interpret or construe a settlement from fifteen years ago as an unlawful transfer of a future payment of the Federal Social Security benefits. CP 83-87.

4. The trial court erred in concluding that the court had jurisdiction over the subject matter of the division of Social Security benefits and had the inherent power to require the respondent husband to pay the petitioner wife a fixed percentage of his monthly Social Security benefits for the rest of his life. CP77-88, 83-87. 5. The trial court erred in ruling that even if the provisions of the Amended Decree of Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997, and in the subsequent court order of September 9, 1999, ordering respondent husband to pay petitioner wife fifty percent of his gross Social Security benefit payment were void or voidable, the parties execution of a CR 2A agreement created a separately enforceable contract right in favor of the petitioner wife. CP 83-87.

#### II. <u>ISSUES</u>

F

1. Whether trial court erred in ordering Mr. Anderson to comply with the provision of the Decree of Dissolution that requires him to pay Ms. Anderson a specific percentage of his Social Security income every month.

2. Whether a motion to vacate a void judgment under CR60(b)(5) may be barred by the passage of time between the date the judgment is entered and the motion to vacate is filed.

3. Whether a CR2A agreement that confirms the division of the respondent husband's gross Social Security payment creates a separately enforceable contract right to the benefit of the petitioner wife, even if the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the moneys payable to the respondent husband from his Social Security benefit.

-2-

4. Whether a trial court has subject matter jurisdiction over the parties rights to payments of money from their Social Security benefits that are subject to 42 USC §407(a).

5. Whether a trial court order requiring the respondent husband to pay fifty percent of his gross monthly Social Security payment to the petitioner wife is a violation of 42 USC 407(a).

6. Whether a trial court order requiring a respondent husband to pay the petitioner wife one half of the difference between his gross monthly Social Security payment and her gross monthly Social Security payment is a violation of 42 USC §407(a).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

6

Robert Anderson and his former wife, Beverly Anderson, were divorced by an Amended Decree of Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997, nunc pro tunc to July 3, 1997. CP11-19. The Decree specifically awarded fifty percent of Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits to his former wife each month until she commenced receiving her own Social Security benefits under her own claim. CP 18. At that time, Mr. Anderson's payment to her would be reduced so that the overall payment from both Social Security benefit awards was divided equally between the two parties. CP 18. In the decree, paragraph 3.13, Other, the decree states as follows: Social Security. When the husband commences receiving his Social Security benefits he shall pay fifty percent of the gross amount to the wife, each month, until the wife commences receiving Social Security benefits under her own claim. When she commences receiving her own Social Security benefits, the gross amount received by the wife shall be subtracted from the gross amount received by the husband, and the husband shall pay to the wife, one half of the difference between his benefit and her benefit on a monthly basis.... said transfer shall continue to be made until the death of a party.

CP 18.

þ

Subsequently a court order was entered by agreement on September 9, 1999, which reaffirmed the court's order dividing the Social Security award. CP 20-21.

On October 12<sup>th</sup>, 2012, Mr. Anderson moved for relief from judgment pursuant to CR60(b)(5). CP 44-46. He asserted the trial court had no authority to order the division of the Social Security income in the dissolution proceeding. CP 49-72, 73-76. The court denied Mr. Anderson's motion to vacate and denied Mr. Anderson's Motion for Reconsideration. CP 77-78, 83-87. This appeal follows.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A decision on a motion for reconsideration is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Davies v. Holy Family Hosp.</u>, 144 Wn. App. 483, 497, 183 P.3d 283 (2008) (quoting <u>Kleyer v. Harborview Med. Ctr. of Univ.</u> of Wash., 76 Wn. App. 542, 545, 887 P.2d 468 (1995). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>DeYoung v. Cenex Ltd.</u>, 100 Wn. App. 885, 897, 1 P.3d 587 (2000). This deference does not apply, however, when the decision is predicated on a question of law, where review is de novo. <u>In re M.B.</u>, 101 Wn. App. 425, 454, 3 P.3d 780 (2000). This case involves only a question of law and therefore review is de novo.

#### V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

A. Social Security Benefits. Petitioner is not entitled to a share of Respondent's Social Security Benefits under Federal Law. 42 U.S.C § 407; <u>In re the Marriage of Zahm</u>, 138 Wn.2d 213, 978 P.2d 498 (1999); <u>In</u> re the Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 235, 170 P.3d 572 (2007).

**B. Void Judgment.** A judgment is void if the court lacks jurisdiction of the parties or the subject matter or lacks the inherent power to enter the particular order involved. CR 60(b)(5); <u>Bresolin v. Morris</u>, 86 Wn.2d 241, 245, 543 P.2d 325 (1975). A motion to vacate a void judgment may be brought at any time. <u>In re Marriage of Leslie</u>, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989).

C. Stipulation to Jurisdiction. If a court has no jurisdiction of an

action, the parties cannot by stipulation confer jurisdiction upon the court. <u>Washington Local Lodge No. 104 v. International Bhd. of Boilermakers</u>, 28 Wn.2d 536, 183 P.2d 504 (1947).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court committed legal error by illegally dividing Social Security benefits.

Federal and state laws do not permit the court to value and distribute Social Security benefits. <u>In re Marriage of Zahm</u>, 138 Wn.2d 213, 978 P.2d 498 (1999); <u>In re Marriage of Rockwell</u>, 141 Wn. App. 235 239, 170 P.3d 572 (2007).

The relevant Federal statute is Chapter 7 of Title 42, which deals

with Social Security. Section 407(a) states,

the right of any person to any future payment under this subchapter shall not be transferable or assignable at law or in equity, and none of the monies paid or payable or rights existing under this subchapter shall be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process, or to the operation of any bankruptcy or insolvency law.

42 USC § 407(a). Therefore, the Court may not divide Social Security benefits.

In the <u>Zahm</u> case, the Washington Supreme Court followed the United States Supreme Court and held that Social Security benefits are not subject to division in a dissolution proceeding:

In 1979, the United States Supreme Court held the Federal

Constitution's Supremacy Clause pre-empted California's community property laws. Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed.2d 1 (1979). The judicial application of California's community property laws, therefore, could not supplant the terms of the Federal Railroad Retirement Act benefits and Federal Social Security benefits holding, in as much as both benefits are the products of non-contractual agreements, they are fundamentally similar. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 574-75. The Supreme Court ultimately held Railroad Retirement Act benefits are not subject to distribution as property in a dissolution proceeding. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 590. Given the Supreme Court's assertion of an affinity between Railroad Retirement Act benefits and Federal Social Security benefits in Hisquierdo, we conclude Social Security benefits themselves are not subject to division in a marital property distribution case.

Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213 at p. 219.

The Zahm Court recognized that the benefits are separate and

indivisible:

We conclude that federal statutes secure Social Security benefits as the separate indivisible property of the spouse who earned them. This approach ensures that the benefits intended for the beneficiary reach that party and that the benefits are insulated from the occasional unpredictable fortunes of legal dispute.

Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213 at p. 220, citing Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo,

439 U.S. 572, 584, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed.2d 1 (1979);

The possibility that one or both parties may receive Social Security

benefits is a factor the court may consider in making its distribution of

property. <u>In re Marriage of Rockwell</u>, 141 Wn.App. 235 239, 170 P.3d 572 (2007). However, the court may not distribute Social Security benefits from one party to the other. <u>Rockwell</u>, 141 Wn.App. at 244.

The Decree orders Mr. Anderson to pay Ms. Anderson fifty percent of the gross amount of Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits each month. CP 18. This very clearly is a taking of Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits and is an award of a portion of his Social Security benefits to Ms. Anderson. Such a result is erroneous as a matter of law.

Ms. Anderson argued before the trial court that though the Decree orders Mr. Anderson to pay Ms. Anderson fifty percent of his Social Security benefits it does not violate 42 USC 407(a) because it does not transfer or assign the Social Security benefits or subject the Social Security benefits to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment or any legal process. This argument is without merit. The court awarded a portion of Mr. Anderson's monthly Social Security benefits to Ms. Anderson. CP 18. This is an award of property and is in violation of 42 USC 407(a). Social Security benefits are not subject to division in a marital property distribution case. 42 USC 407(a); <u>Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo</u>, 439 U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed.2d 1 (1979). The <u>Zahm</u> court holds that a trial court may properly consider a spouse's Social Security income when formulating a just and equitable division of the parties' marital property. However, the <u>Zahm</u> court specifically holds that Social Security benefits may not be divided. The <u>Zahm</u> court states that although Social Security benefits may not be divided or reassigned in a marriage dissolution proceeding, or valued for purposes of an offsetting award, they may properly be considered by a court in evaluating the relative economic circumstances of divorcing spouses for purposes of making a just and equitable division of their property under RCW 26.09.080. See <u>Marriage of Zahm</u>, supra.

The trial court's ruling is contrary to the holdings of the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Hisquierdo</u>, and the State Supreme court in Zahm, supra; under <u>Hisquierdo</u>, Social Security benefits themselves are not subject to division in a marital property distribution case. The Washington State Supreme Court in <u>Zahm</u>, reaffirmed the rule, but found that the Social Security benefits were not actually divided. <u>Zahm</u>, 138 Wn.2d 213 at page 220. In the instant case the court did actually divide Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits, awarding a portion of his share to Ms. Anderson. CP 18. This is a clear violation of 42 USC 407(a) and <u>Hisquierdo</u>. In <u>Hisquierdo</u> the trial court made an offsetting property award in a specific amount after

determining the value of the husband's retirement account and the court found this a violation of Federal Law. In the instant case the Court made an <u>actual</u> division of the Social Security benefits from Mr. Anderson to Ms. Anderson which applies for the duration of Mr. Anderson's life. CP 18. This is a clear violation of 42 USC 407(a).

# B. The trial court erred when it denied the motion to vacate under Court Rule 60.

Mr. Anderson filed his motion to vacate the provision of his Decree involving the division of his Social Security Benefits. CP 44-72. The court denied his motion, finding that the motion was not brought within a reasonable time under Court Rule 60, and that in any event the Decree does not actually divide his Social Security Benefits. CP 77-78.

Where a court lacks jurisdiction over the parties or the subject matter, or lacks the inherent power to make or enter the particular order, its judgment is void. A motion to vacate a void judgment may be brought at any time, and the court must vacate the judgment as soon as the defect comes to light. <u>Chai v. Kong</u>, 122 Wn.App. 247, 93 P.3d 936 (2004).

CR 60(b)(5) provides "the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following

reasons: . . . the judgment is void." A judgment is void if "the court lacks jurisdiction of the parties or the subject matter or lacks the inherent power to enter the particular order involved." <u>Bresolin v. Morris</u>, 86 Wash. 2d 241, 245, 543 P.2d 325 (1975), <u>Supplemental Op.</u>, <u>Bresolin v. Morris</u>, 88 Wn.2d 167, 558 P.2d 1350 (1977). A motion to vacate a void judgment may be brought at any time. <u>In re Marriage of Leslie</u>, 112 Wn.2d 612, 618-19, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989); State ex rel. <u>Campbell v. Cook</u>, 86 Wash. App. 761, 767, 938 P.2d 345, review denied, 133 Wn.2d 1019, 948 P.2d 387 (1997). Mr. Anderson's motion to vacate based upon lack of jurisdiction is not barred by the passage of time.

In the present case the trial court did not and does not have subject matter jurisdiction or inherent power over the parties' Social Security Benefits. See 42 USC Section 407. The trial court specifically divided the Social Security benefits of the husband/respondent. CP 18. The Court ordered: "When the husband commences receiving his Social Security benefits, he shall pay fifty percent of the gross amount to the wife, each month...." CP 18. This is a division of the Social Security Benefits, not a specific award of spousal maintenance or a division of another asset. The Decree of Dissolution specifically cites and directs that the Social Security benefits of Mr. Anderson be divided. This direct order for division of the

Social Security benefits was made without legal authority. The lack of legal authority to make the division of Social Security Benefits makes the order void. A void order is void from the inception and a Motion to Vacate is not limited by any passing of time and the reasonableness requirement in CR 60(b) does not apply.

C. The trial court erred by ruling that the illegal division was property stipulated to by the parties.

The trial court found that Mr. Anderson's Motion to Vacate was not appropriate in part because the parties stipulated to the entry of the judgment and executed a written agreement. CP 77-78.

A stipulation disposing of property in a dissolution case is subject to court approval. <u>Munroe v. Munroe</u>, 27 Wn.2d 556, 561, 178 P.2d 983 (1947). A stipulation that has been approved by the court will not be disturbed unless there is a clear and manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Mayo v.</u> <u>Mayo</u>, 75 Wn. 2d 36, 38, 448 P.2d 926 (1968). A judgment by consent may be reviewed on appeal where there is a mistake or in lack of jurisdiction. <u>Washington Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.</u>, 51 Wn.2d 89, 91, 316 P.2d 126, 69 A.L.R.2d 752 (1957). If a court has no jurisdiction of an action, the parties cannot by stipulation confer it upon the court. <u>Washington Local Lodge No. 104 v.</u> <u>International Bhd. of Boilermakers</u>, 28 Wn.2d 536, 544, 183 P.2d 504 (1947), adhered to, 28 Wn.2d 546, 189 P.2d 648 (1948); <u>Miles v. Chinto</u> <u>Mining Co.</u>, 21 Wn.2d 902, 903, 153 P.2d 856 (1944), adhered to, 21 Wn.2d 907, 156 P.2d 235 (1945). The trial court erred when it upheld an illegal distribution of Social Security benefits based on a conclusion that the parties stipulated to the division. Stipulated or otherwise, such an act is expressly forbidden by federal and state law and is void.

#### VII. <u>CONCLUSION</u>