COURT OF APPEALS 
DIVISION I 

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
70057-0-1 

ROBERT E. ANDERSON, 

APPELLANT, 

V. 

BEVERLY L. ANDERSON, 

RESPONDENT. 

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF 

Ginger Edwards Buetow 
WSBA#31099 
of Buetow Law Office, PLLC 
520 Kirkland Way, Suite 400 
P.O. Box 3268 
Kirkland, W A 98083 
(425)889-5388 
Attorneys for Respondent 

~ , 
( f) (.--;' 

1: 

C;'j 

.~ .. POI - . 
.-. -; 

........ ..:

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

II. ARGUMENT 

III. CONCLUSION 

I. 

Page No. 

1 

3 

11 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

CASES Page No. 

In re Marriage of Brewer, 5 
137 Wn.2d 756,769,976 P.2d 102 (1999). 

In re Marriage of Crosetto, 4 
82 Wn.App. 545,556,918 P.2d 954 (1996) 

Dike v. Dike, 8 
75 Wn2d 1, 7, 448 P.2d 490, 494 (1968) 

Haller v. Haller, 10 
89 Wn2d 539, 544, 575 P.2d 1302 (1978) 

Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 5,6, 7 
439 U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979) 

In re Marriage of Littlefield, 5 
133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997) 

In re Marriage of Martin, 4 
22 Wn.App. 295,298,588 P.2d 1235 (1979) 

Martin v. Pickering, 8 
85 Wash.2d 241,533 P.2d 380 (1975) 

Mayo v. Mayo, 10 
75 Wn. 2d 36, 38, 448 P.2d 926 (1968) 

Munroe v. Munroe, 10 
27 Wn.2d 556, 561,178 P.2d 983 (1947) 

In Re: The Marriage of Rockwell, 4,6 
141 Wn.App. 235, 243, 170 P.3d 572 (2007) 

In re Marriage of Stachofsky, 3 
90 Wn.App. 135, 142,951 P.2d 346 (1998) 

II. 



In re Marriage of Washburn, 4 
101 Wn.2d 168, 179,677 P.2d 152 (1984) 

In re Marriage of Williams, 4 
84 Wn.App. 263, 270, 927 P.2d 679 (1996) 

In re Marriage of Zahm, 5,7,8 
138 Wn.2d 213, 219, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) 

STATUTES AND RULES Page No. 

RCW 26.09.080 4,6,9 

CR60(b)(II) 9, 10 

19 Wash. Prac 11.5 7 

19 Wash. Prac § 19.17 10 

III. 



I. STA TEMENT OF THE CASE 

Beverly Anderson and Robert Anderson were married for 39 years 

prior to their divorce in 1997. CP 89. Mr. Anderson was the financial 

provider for the entire marriage. Mrs. Anderson was a provider at home, 

taking care of the children, doing volunteer work, not undertaking 

monetary employment outside the home, but doing a lot for the family as a 

whole. CP 92. Mrs. Anderson's full attention to duties and tasks at home 

with the family facilitated Mr. Anderson's ability to work and to provide, 

so his income-earning ability was a community asset that was built up 

during the course of the marriage. CP 92. 

At the time of the divorce, both parties were near traditional 

retirement age. CP 93. Mrs. Anderson, because of her lack of significant 

gainful employment, would likely find a job paying only minimum wage. 

CP 93. In contrast, Mr. Anderson continued to have substantial earning 

power and testified that in 1997 he would earn between $250,000-

$300,000 and would continue to earn six figures beyond 1997. CP 93. 

Mr. Anderson's earning capacity was in the range of twenty times that of 

Mrs. Anderson. CP 93. 

The divorce trial was held in April 1997. On May 19, 1997, the 

Honorable Robert H. Alsdorf entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
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Law and a Decree of Dissolution. CP 1-10 and 88-96. Findings of Fact 

2.12 states "[p ]erhaps despite the lifestyle, or perhaps because of it, no 

retirement has been obtained beyond social security." CP 92. 

Conclusions of Law 3.6.5 states "Social Security received by the parties 

should be equalized as set forth in the Decree." CP 95. 

An Amended Decree of Dissolution was entered October 7, 1997, 

nunc pro tunc back to July 3, 1997. CP 11-19. Just as the original Decree, 

the Amended Decree of Dissolution provided as follows: 

When the husband commences receiving his social security 
benefits, he shall pay 50% of the gross amount to the wife, each 
month, until the wife commences receiving social security benefits 
under her own claim. When she commences receiving her own 
social security benefits, the gross amount received by the wife 
shall be subtracted from the gross amount received by the husband, 
and the husband shall pay to the wife one-half of the difference 
between his benefit and her benefit on a monthly basis. CP 18. 

In September 1997, Mr. Anderson requested the court to modify 

maintenance and to clarify the Amended Decree to provide for a payment 

of a loan. CP 97-103. In June 1998, Mr. Anderson again motion the 

Court, but this time it was to request to terminate maintenance and to also 

avoid payments to a reserve for a property referred to as the "Ranch." CP 

104-113. In September 1998, Mr. Anderson brought a CR60 motion 

requesting correction of a clerical error which he later withdrew. CP 114-
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116. In his motions, Mr. Anderson did not request the Court to void the 

judgment under Federal and State law; or, claim that the social security 

provision was void under Federal and State law. CP 97-116. 

On April 19, 1999, the parties entered into a CR2A contract which 

was approved "as being fair at the time of its execution" by Judge Alsdorf 

on September 8, 1999. CP 33. In the CR2A contract, the parties agreed 

"[t]he provision in the decree entitled Social Security shall be given its full 

effect." CP 34. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. The trial court did not illegally divide Social Security Benefits; 
thus, an error did not occur. 

Mr. Anderson's social security benefits were not valued or 

distributed in violation of federal and state laws when the Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law and the Decree of Dissolution were entered on 

May 19,1997. 

In a dissolution action, all property, community and separate, is 

before the court for distribution. In re Marriage of Stachofsky, 90 

Wn.App. 135, 142, 951 P.2d 346 (1998). While the distribution of 

property must be just and equitable in consideration of the circumstances, 
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it does not have to be equal. In re Marriage of Washburn, 101 Wn.2d 168, 

179,677 P.2d 152 (1984). 

In reaching a "just and equitable" property division, the court must 

consider four statutory factors: (1) the nature and extent of the community 

property, (2) the nature and extent of the separate property, (3) the 

duration of the marriage, and (4) the economic circumstances of the 

parties at the time of the property division. RCW 26.09.080. 

The trial court's paramount concern is the economic condition of 

the parties. In re Marriage of Crosetto, 82 Wn.App. 545, 556, 918 P.2d 

954 (1996); In re Marriage of Williams, 84 Wn.App. 263, 270, 927 P.2d 

679 (1996). When making an equitable property division, the court is not 

required to use a precise formula or calculate the distribution with 

mathematical precision. In re Marriage of Martin, 22 Wn.App. 295, 298, 

588 P.2d 1235 (1979); Crosetto, 82 Wn.App. at 556. A manifest abuse of 

discretion occurs if the decree results in a patent disparity in the parties' 

economic circumstances. In Re: The Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 

235,243, 170 P.3d 572 (2007). 

The Court of Appeals will seldom modify a trial court's division of 

property and assets on appeal, and the spouse who challenges such a 

decision bears a heavy burden to show a manifest abuse of discretion on 
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the part of the trial court. This deferential standard of review exists 

because the trial court is "in the best position to assess the assets and 

liabilities of the parties" in order to determine what constitutes an 

equitable outcome. In re Marriage of Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 769, 976 

P.2d 102 (1999). 

A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the 

range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal 

standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are 

unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on 

an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the 

correct standard. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 

P.2d 1362 (1997). 

It is permissible for a trial court to consider social security benefits 

in making an overall just and equitable division of the parties' assets. In re 

Marriage ofZahm, 138 Wn.2d 213,219,978 P.2d 498 (1999) (citing 42 

U.S.C. § 407(a) of the Social Security Act and its interpretation under 

Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. 5'12, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L.Ed.2d 1 

(1979)). The Zahm court ruled that "a trial court may still properly consider 

a spouse's social security income within the more elastic parameters of the 

court's power to formulate a just and equitable division of the parties' 
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marital property which is consistent with the objects of RCW 26.09.080. 

See also, Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. at 244-45 (the present and future receipt 

of Social Security benefits by the parties is a factor the court is entitled to 

consider). 

This matter is distinguishable from Hisquierdo. In Hisquierdo, the 

Supreme Court of California held that Mr. Hisquirdo's railroad retirement 

benefits were community property to be divided by the trial court. The 

United States Supreme Court reversed and found that federal retirement 

benefits may not be divided. Alternatively, the respondent requested "an 

offsetting award of presently available community property to compensate 

her for her interest in petitioner's expected railroad retirement benefits." 

The Supreme Court found the proposal tantamount to the prohibited 

reassignment of federal benefits. 

In contrast, the agreed provision herein did not value the Social 

Security payments and give the wife an offsetting property award. CP 11-

19, 77-78, 83-87. It did not attempt to require the federal government to 

pay an amount directly to the wife. CP 11-19, 86. Rather it was part of an 

overall distribution of a sizeable estate to equalize the property awarded to 

the parties. CP 11-19,86. 
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The provision entitled "Social Security" in the decree required Mr. 

Anderson to make a property payment to Mrs. Anderson once he began 

receiving Social Security benefits. The provision did not require that the 

benefits themselves be divided at the source; i.e., "as a regular deduction 

from his benefit check." Hisquierdo, at 588. CP 86. Once the benefits 

were in the hands of Mr. Anderson, he was required to provide Mrs. 

Anderson with a sum of money. Accordingly, Mr. Anderson's method of 

payment included paying Mrs. Anderson from a joint checking account 

which he shared with his present wife. CP 172-178. 

Zahm is also distinguishable from this matter in that at the time of 

dissolution, the petitioner in Zahm received monthly income from federal 

social security. Zahm, In this matter, Mr. Anderson was not receiving 

social security benefits, so the value of his benefits were unknown. 

Zahm is also called into question because Congress later amended 

the Railroad Retirment Act to permit an award of an interest in the pension 

to the non-employee spouse. 19 Wash. Prac 11.5. This change draws into 

question the founding of the ruling in Zahm that Social Security benefits 

cannot be divided because that court specifically stated: 

Given the Supreme Court's assertion of an affinity between Railroad 
Retirement Act benefits and federal social security benefits in 
Hisquierdo, we conclude social security benefits themselves are not 

- 7 -



subject to division in a marital property distribution case. Zahm. 
CP 85. 

The Honorable Deborah Fleck stated "I don't believe this provision 

would have been challenged if the attorneys and the parties had simply 

picked two figures, ones that an accountant estimated for them, that would 

have been payable as further property division when the husband and later 

the wife, began receiving Social Security." CP 86. Mr. Anderson's Social 

Security benefits were not distributed in violation of Section 407(a). 

B. The trial court did not err when it denied the motion vacate 
under Court Rule 60. 

A motion to vacate a judgment is to be considered and decided 

by the trial court in the exercise of its discretion, and its decision should 

be overturned on appeal only if it plainly appears that it has abused that 

discretion. Martin v. Pickering, 85 Wash.2d 241,533 P.2d 380 (1975). 

The trial court did not abuse that discretion. 

Mr. Anderson requested the court to void the judgment in the 

instant matter. A void judgment is a judgment, decree or order entered by 

a court which lacks jurisdiction of the parties or of the subject matter, or 

which lacks the inherent power to make or enter the particular order 

involved. Dike v. Dike, 75 Wn2d 1,7,448 P.2d 490, 494 (1968). 
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The trial court had jurisdiction over the parties because they resided 

in King County. CP 181. The trial court also had jurisdiction over the 

subject matter because the Superior Court of the State of Washington for 

King County was the proper court to bring the parties' dissolution action. 

CP 181. Finally, the trial court had inherent power to make a just and 

equitable distribution of the parties' marital property. RCW 26.09.080. CP 

181. 

On November 2, 2012, the trial court ruled as follows: 

[T]he Social Security benefits provision in the Amended Decree of 
Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997 and in the subsequent court 
order of September 9, 1999 is hereby not void under Federal and 
State law because the Court used the amount of money as a 
substantial factor to arrive at a just & equitable property settlement 
distribution and did not divided social security benefits. CP 77-78. 

Because the trial court found that the provision was not void, it 

followed that the motion was also not brought in a timely manner. CP 77-

78. Upon Mr. Anderson's Motion for Reconsideration, the trial ruled that 

the motion was not brought within a reasonable time pursuant to CR 

60(b)( 11). Again, the trial court found that on February 19, 2013: 

Judge Alsdorf had jurisdiction over the parties and the subject 
matter of the dissolution and had the inherent power to require the 
respondent husband to pay money to the petitioner wife in an 
amount that was pegged to the amount of his Social Security 
payments; I don't believe this provision included in the Decree is 
void. Judge Alsdorf was, at a minimum, entitled to consider Social 
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Security benefits in order to properly evaluate the economic 
circumstances of the spouses in this longer tenn marriage. If this 
provision is voidable, the motion is not brought within a reasonable 
time pursuant to CR 60(b )(11). CP 86. 

The Court used proper discretion in ruling that Mr. Anderson's 

motion was not timely. 

C. The trial court did not err when it ruled the CR2A executed by 
the parties was enforceable. 

On February 19, 2013, the Honorable Deborah H. Fleck confinned 

that the CR2A document signed by the parties in 1999 and approved by 

Judge Alsdorf, is a separate contract between the parties. CP 86. A 

contract, even if merged in a decree, is separately enforceable. 19 Wash. 

Prac§19.17. CP87. 

A stipulation disposing of property in a dissolution case is subject to 

court approval. Munroe v. Munroe, 27 Wn.2d 556, 561, 178 P.2d 983 

(1947). A judgment by consent may not be set aside if it confonns to the 

stipulation unless obtained by fraud or mutual mistake. Haller v. Haller, 89 

Wn2d 539, 544, 575 P.2d 1302 (1978) (quoting 3 E. Tuttle, A Treatise of 

the Law of Judgments §1352 at 2776-77 (5th ed. Rev. 1925)). A stipulation 

that has been approved by the court will not be disturbed unless there is a 

clear and manifest abuse of discretion. Mayo v. Mayo, 75 Wn. 2d 36, 38, 

448 P.2d 926 (1968). 
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There is not a clear and manifest abuse of discretion. Just as the 

Amended Decree was not void, neither is the CR2A contract. 

III. CONCLUSION 

In conclusion, the Superior Court was with authority to approve, 

five times, that the amount of Social Security benefits to be received by Mr. 

Anderson, would be a substantial factor in an overall just and equitable 

distribution of the property held by the parties at the time of dissolution. 

The agreed provision herein did not value the Social Security payments; 

nor, did it give the wife an offsetting property award. Rather, it was used as 

a method of equalization. The judgment is not void because the Court had 

authority to approve the Decree( s) and the CR2A agreement. Mr. 

Anderson's appeal should be denied.